

MXTAN0208

Design Guidelines for PCB Layouts for maXTouch Controllers

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.0	Introduction		2	
2.0	Initial	Preparation	3	
3.0	Trace Routing		4	
	3.1	Signal Tracking	4	
	3.2	Track Width Rules	4	
	3.3	Board Lavers	4	
	3.4	Y Lines	4	
	3.5	X Lines	5	
	3.6	Guard Track (Self Capacitance Measurements)	6	
	3.7	Shielding and Ground	6	
	3.8	ESD Ground Routing	6	
	3.9	Power Traces	7	
	3.10	Vdd	7	
	3.11	AVdd	8	
	3.12	XVdd	8	
	3.13	VddCORE	8	
	3.14	Ground	8	
	3.15	Low Drop-out Voltage Regulators	10	
4.0	Communication Traces		. 12	
	4.1	SPI Traces	12	
	4.2	I2C Traces	12	
	4.3	Crystal Selection	12	
	4.4	Other Traces	12	
	4.5	ESD Handling	13	
5.0	Exter	nal High Voltage Circuit Layout	. 14	
6.0	BGA	Escape Routing	. 15	
7.0	Design for Manufacturing		. 16	
	7.1	Layout Traces	16	
	7.2	Vias	16	
	7.3	Solder Mask	16	
	7.4	Layer Stack-up	17	
8.0	Flexible Printed Circuit		. 18	
	8.1	FPC Layout	18	
	8.2	FPC Orientation	19	
	8.3	FPC Folding Path	19	
	8.4	FPC Layers	20	
Appendix A. Revision History			. 21	

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This document provides basic ground rules to be observed when executing a printed circuit board layout for use with Microchip maXTouch touch controllers. Many of these rules are basic common sense guidelines which will have been used in previous PCB designs.

Adhering to these guidelines will ensure that the final product stands the best chance of passing any EMC or ESD tests that the equipment will be subject too, both in terms of defending against external aggressor signals interfering with the touch system and minimizing emissions from the touch controller.

It should be noted that no amount of rules or guidelines can guarantee product conformance with environmental requirements, as each design is unique, and will present its own set of problems.

The information presented in this document is not specific to any particular Microchip touch controller product, therefore parts of this document may be ignored if they are not appropriate for the current design.

This document represents best practice for new designs, and is subject to change as and when new products are introduced.

Many of the requirements are common to touch sensor design, and this document should be read in conjunction with the following document:

• QTAN0080, maXTouch Sensor Design Guide

2.0 INITIAL PREPARATION

Initial preparation for a new printed circuit board layout is **very important**, and should take into account such factors as component placement/orientation and supply routing. Components should be orientated such that signal and power tracking is as efficient and short as possible. This applies particularly to the routing of the X and Y lines between the controller and the touch screen – especially if the touch controller is to be used in the self capacitance mode. After this, the routing of the power and ground traces should be considered. Thought should be given to the positioning of supply rail decoupling capacitors and supply rail tracking. These two are vital to the correct operation of the circuit, and also to ensure that EMC requirements are met in relation to emissions and immunity. Careful placing of supplies and supply decoupling capacitors can help reduce the number of decoupling components required, while still ensuring satisfactory touch controller performance.

3.0 TRACE ROUTING

When routing signal, power, X and Y traces, there are some important guidelines that should be followed, as described in the following sections.

3.1 Signal Tracking

Care should be taken to ensure that signal tracks, especially those with fast edges, are kept as short as possible. Also of vital importance is to ensure that such signals (which include clocks, SPI or I2C buses and similar) have a full and unbroken GROUND signal return path which runs the full length of the signal track. Any discontinuities in the ground return path will result in signal reflections and potential noise radiation from that track. Note that this specifically does NOT apply to X and Y tracking between the controller and touch screen. These tracks are dealt with later in this document.

Inter layer vias should be avoided for all high speed signals, as these impose additional inductance and stray capacitance on the signal. A via will also usually violate the integrity of the all important ground return path. As in all designs, some compromises must be made, and it may not be possible to adhere to this rule at all times.

It should also be ensured that high speed signal tracks do not make sharp directional changes. Direction changes of more than 45 degrees should be avoided. Ninety degree direction changes should, for example, be replaced with two 45 degree bends. This will avoid abrupt impedance changes which are the cause of signal reflections along the track, and radiated noise from an electronic circuit. Remember that each signal line has the ability to both radiate RF energy and be susceptible to any local RF fields. Keep all susceptible tracks short, and view all signal tracks as if they were small antennas.

3.2 Track Width Rules

The width of individual tracks should be chosen to ensure that current handling and other characteristics are observed for each signal. Power tracking should be kept as wide and heavy as possible to ensure minimum inductance and voltage droops.

3.3 Board Layers

A four layer design, if properly executed, will ALWAYS out perform a two layer board in terms of EMC and ESD immunity. In the four layer case, it is assumed that the extra two layers are used to provide a solid ground and power plane on the inside of the board, with the signal tracking on the outer layers. Whether a two or four layer board design is undertaken almost always involves weighing the benefits of the four layers against cost. A four layer board will improve the integrity of signals and reduce supply noise and ripple, and will also ensure that noisy signals are kept within the confines of the outside (grounded) layers, avoiding emissions and susceptibility. A two layer board layout becomes more critical and difficult to implement because of the inevitable compromises that must be made when tracking in power and signals.

3.4 Y Lines

The Y lines are the most critical in terms of layout. They are not themselves touch sensitive when operating in the MUTUAL CAPACITANCE mode. In the SELF CAP mode, however, they become an integral part of the touch sensor, and therefore need to be carefully tracked. These tracks should be kept as short as possible, and should be kept away from ground planes or other signal tracking. Particular care should be taken if designing a layout for both mutual and self capacitance modes. See Section 3.6 "Guard Track (Self Capacitance Measurements)" for more information.

Observe the following points:

- Minimize the trace lengths between the IC and the sensor.
- Avoid running Y lines over or between ground or power planes wherever possible to help minimize stray capacitance.
- Try to keep parasitic routing capacitance on each Y line to less than 50 pF (to ground or other low impedance circuits) between the device and the sensor hot-bond.
- The parasitic series resistance of each Y line should be kept to less than 100Ω from the device to the sensor hotbond.
- Always route Y traces using minimum track and gap geometries, and route them as a group all the way from the device to the sensor.
- Do not route the Y lines in parallel to (and above) the X lines, such as on opposite sides of a flex.

- Separate the Y lines from the X lines using at least a double width or double gap ground trace between the groups
 of signals, or driven shield trace if using self cap. This converts coupling (mutual) capacitance into stray
 capacitance, which is more tolerable.
- If using self capacitance mode, place a driven shield (guard) track between the Y lines and any Ground as well. See Section 3.6 "Guard Track (Self Capacitance Measurements)" for more information on a driven shield track for self capacitance layouts.
- If the Y lines must cross the X lines on opposite layers, cross them at 90° and, ideally, far away from any touchable regions. Cross them on layers that are as far apart as possible, ideally separated by a Ground layer.
- Keep foreign signals (for example, communications signals, data buses or strobes) well away from the Y lines.



FIGURE 1: OPTIMIZING CROSSOVERS

3.5 X Lines

The X lines are as important as the Y lines if the self capacitance mode is to be used. They are not themselves touch sensitive when operating in the mutual capacitance mode. However, in the self capacitance mode, they become an integral part of the touch sensor, and therefore need to be carefully tracked. These tracks should be kept as short as possible, and should be kept away from ground planes or other signal tracking. Care should be taken if designing a layout for both mutual and self capacitance modes. See Section 3.6 "Guard Track (Self Capacitance Measurements)" for more information on a driven shield (guard) track for self capacitance layouts.

Observe the following points for both X and Y lines:

- Minimize the total routed length from the device to the sensor's hot-bond.
- Avoid excessive capacitive loading on the X lines to ground. Refer to the datasheet for your device for loading characteristics.
- In general, do not place any component in series or parallel with the X lines. However, if they are required for EMI control, series damping resistors of up to 1 kΩ may be used.
- All X lines should be routed as a group, as should the Y lines.
- See the notes on Y lines in Section 3.1 "Signal Tracking" for X to Y separation rules.
- The series resistance of each X line (not including extended X line resistance) should be kept to less than 100Ω from the device to the sensor hot-bond.

3.6 Guard Track (Self Capacitance Measurements)

When the maXTouch device operates in self capacitance mode, the X and Y lines are equally critical, as both become touch sensitive in this mode. If self capacitance operation is supported, therefore, a guard track in the form of a driven shield (typically the DS0 pin) must be placed in between X and Y lines to keep them separated (see Figure 2). The guard track also needs to separate the X and Y lines from Ground.

Note that the Ground track should separate the X and Y lines from other signals or power supplies on the board. If this is not possible, due to design restrictions, the driven shield track will also have to shield the X and Y lines from these other traces.

The driven shield track traces should be restricted to narrow traces on the PCB. That is, no large areas of copper should be used to avoid "slowing" the driven shield signal. In order to avoid making a loop antenna, the driven shield traces should not form a continuous loop, but should instead be implemented using overlaps. See Figure 2 for details.

FIGURE 2: EXAMPLE DRIVEN SHIELD ROUTING



NOTE: Sample touchscreen for illustrative purposes only. The number of X/Y lines available on any given device might differ from that shown here. Similarly, the routing of the X/Y lines shown should not be taken as indicative of any preferred layout and the user's layout may vary.

3.7 Shielding and Ground

Where shielding layers are placed over an FPC, these should be connected to Ground, not the driven shield pin (DS0). Although this will create extra parasitic capacitance to Ground for the X and Y lines, the shielding layers cannot be connected to DS0 because the large capacitive load will exceed the drive capability of the DS0 pin and stop it fulfilling its purpose of isolating the "real" X and Y traces from ground loads. Ideally such shield layers should be hatched, not a full flood, but externally laminated ESD shielding does not normally cause an issue.

3.8 ESD Ground Routing

To protect the maXTouch device from ESD discharges, the outermost track on the sensor should be an ESD ground (see Figure 3). Like the driven shield, this should completely surround the sensor but with an overlap at the top rather than forming a complete loop.

To avoid electromagnetic induction of currents into the driven shield trace, a minimum separation of 0.3 mm should be maintained between the ESD Ground trace and the Driven Shield.

The ESD ground traces should be connected to a dedicated ground trace in the PCB, and routed such that ESD strike currents do not flow under or close to the touch controller or the connecting wiring between it and the touchscreen array. The ESD ground should be connected in to the main system ground at a star point at the main Ground connection to the PCB.

FIGURE 3: ESD GROUND



3.9 Power Traces

Power to the maXTouch device is provided via three or four sets of pins: Vdd (digital supply), AVdd (analog supply) and XVdd (external high voltage supply). Additionally the IO interface to the host can be referenced to a separate VddIO voltage instead of being common with Vdd. Keep these traces as thick as possible to keep inductance low.

With good board layout, (including the use of power and ground planes), a single capacitor can suffice for decoupling each supply, however, as many capacitors as desired may be added to compensate for less than ideal power tracking (for example, on a two layer board), or a noisy common supply.

All decoupling capacitors must be X7R or X5R and placed less than 5 mm away from the pins for which they act as bypass capacitors. Pins of the same type can share a capacitor provided no pin is more than 10 mm from the capacitor.

A parallel combination of capacitors is recommended to give high and low frequency filtering. This is beneficial if the voltage regulators are likely to be some distance from the device (for example, if an active tail design is used). Note that this requires that the voltage regulator supplies are clean and noise free. It also assumes that the track length between the capacitors and the on-board power supplies is less than 50 mm.

3.10 Vdd

This is the digital supply to the device. It is independent of the analog supply. Refer to the datasheet for your maXTouch device for allowable ranges.

Vdd is not directly used as part of the capacitive measurement process and so it is relatively tolerant of noise.

While the average power used by Vdd is low, the instantaneous peak current on Vdd means that good quality supply bypass capacitors must be used very close to the device body (within 5 mm). Vdd must be regulated by the host system and is commonly supplied from the same power rail that serves the rest of the host's digital domain.

While it is possible to run Vdd and AVdd from the same supply, this may have noise implications if good layout and high quality capacitors are not used.

3.11 AVdd

This is the analog supply to the device. It is independent of the digital supply. AVdd is critical to the performance of the device and is used directly by the measurement front end.

The instantaneous peak current demand on AVdd means that good quality supply bypass capacitors must be used very close to the device body (within 5 mm). It also means that series inductors cannot be used to isolate the digital and analog supplies if sourced from a common regulator. Instead, create a star point at the regulator output and run separate, low-impedance traces for Vdd and Avdd (see Section 3.15 "Low Drop-out Voltage Regulators"). Refer to the datasheet for your maXTouch device for recommended values and types.

3.12 XVdd

XVdd is the X line drive power supply. In normal mode, XVdd is connected to the AVdd analogue power supply. In many maXTouch devices, XVdd can also be connected to an external high voltage analogue supply in high voltage mode. This may be an on-board booster supply or an external high-voltage rail. Some maXTouch devices generate their own XVdd from the Vdd or Avdd rail. See Section 5.0 "External High Voltage Circuit Layout" and refer also to the details in the datasheet for your device.

All XVdd related components are required to be placed very close to the XVdd pins of the maxTouch device. Once again, instantaneous peak current on this rail is high, so tracking must be thick, suitably decoupled and as short as possible. Suitable derating of capacitor operating voltages should be observed if high voltage XVdd is used.

3.13 VddCORE

Most Microchip touch controller family members operate with a separate core voltage. This voltage is provided by an internal LDO (derived from Vdd), and decoupling capacitors for this supply should be placed close to the pin. Refer to the datasheet for your maXTouch device for decoupling requirements.

3.14 Ground

There are multiple Ground pins on the device. Connect them all to a single low impedance ground trace or flood. DO NOT rely on internal connections between ground pins. Some devices also have a ground pad underneath the device: if present, this must also be grounded. Refer to the datasheet for your device for details.

Ground trace routing should be carefully considered. Do not share the touch controller ground return path with other chips in the design (apart from LDOs that solely power the maXTouch device), as this may induce noise in the capacitive measurements and thereby reduce the signal-to-noise ratio of the system. A better solution is to try to run a single wide trace back to a common star-point at the supply origin. A flood is preferable to a ground trace as it will reduce the current density flowing under the device; best of all is a split flood, to ensure that other ground currents does not affect the device's ground reference at all.

Local regulators solely supplying the maXTouch device should be located as close as possible to the maXTouch device and the loop size of the power/ground path should be minimized.

These approaches (both good and bad) are summarized in Figure 4.





The topology of the ground (and power) tracking in any PCB layout should be determined during the initial preparation phase of the design. It is too important to leave this until later stages of the design. New designs should always strive to achieve the best solution, as defined in the diagrams above for ground tracking. This applies to both two and four layer designs.

It is particularly important to route ESD ground return paths away from the maXTouch device. An ESD discharge can result in high peak currents and sharp rise-times, which can induce high voltages onto other traces running close by. Do not allow such currents to flow underneath the maXTouch device and separate any ESD return trace by at least 0.3 mm from a driven shield or similar line. It is recommended that the ESD trace runs around the perimeter and connects to a star point near the Ground input connector

3.15 Low Drop-out Voltage Regulators

3.15.1 SINGLE LOW DROP-OUT VOLTAGE REGULATOR SUPPLY

When designing a PCB for an application using a single Low Drop-out Voltage regulator (LDO), the traces for Vdd and AVdd should be split as close as possible to the regulator, ideally adjacent to the LDO footprint. This separates the AVdd current flows in AVdd from those in Vdd, thus minimizing the noise introduced into AVdd from Vdd. The two power supply traces should be routed over a ground plane as much as possible. They should not be routed close together as this will introduce unwanted coupling between them.

There are three options for routing with a single LDO:

• LDO near touch controller - split power traces near LDO

The best option is to place the LDO on the same PCB as the touch controller, and close to it. In this case, the traces for AVdd and Vdd should split as close as possible to the footprint of the LDO.

For information on the reservoir capacitors next to the touch controller refer to the data sheet for your device.

It is possible that an additional capacitor next to the LDO will be required for reasons of LDO stability. Refer to the chosen LDO manufacturer's data sheet for guidance.

FIGURE 5: PREFERRED SINGLE LDO OPTION



· LDO remote from touch controller - power traces split near LDO

If the LDO must be remote from the touch controller, the best option is still to split the traces for AVdd and Vdd next to the LDO and route them separately from there. Figure 6 shows how this would be implemented in a case where the LDO were on the main PCB and the touch controller on a flex. In this case, two separate connections are used on the flex connector.

For information on the reservoir capacitors next to the touch controller refer to the data sheet for your device. An additional capacitor next to the LDO may be required for reasons of LDO stability (including when a flex is not connected). Refer to the chosen LDO manufacturer's data sheet for guidance.

FIGURE 6: REMOTE LDO – POWER TRACES SPLIT NEAR LDO



· LDO remote from touch controller - power traces split away from LDO

If it is not possible to split the AVdd and Vdd traces next to the LDO, then the split should be made as close as possible to the connector for the PCB or flex carrying the maXTouch device. This minimizes the coupling of interference into the touch controller AVdd. The trace from the LDO to the split should be especially wide to minimize impedances along it. Figure 7 shows the situation where the LDO is on the main PCB, the touch controller on a flex, and only one connection is available through the flex connector. In this case the supply traces should split on the flex, next to the flex connector.

For information on the reservoir capacitors next to the touch controller refer to the data sheet for your device. An additional capacitor next to the LDO may be required for reasons of LDO stability (including when a flex is not connected). Refer to the chosen LDO manufacturer's data sheet for guidance.

FIGURE 7: REMOTE LDO – POWER TRACES SPLIT NEAR FLEX CONNECTOR



3.15.2 MULTIPLE LDO REGULATOR SUPPLY

The AVdd supply stability is beneficial for the device because this supply powers the sensitive circuits of the analog front end. If noise problems persist when using a single LDO regulator, Microchip recommends that AVdd is supplied by a regulator that is separate from the digital supply. This minimizes the amount of noise injected into the sensitive, low signal level parts of the design.

As Vdd and AVdd do not have to be the same voltage level, another good option is to have one main LDO or power supply for Vdd, and then derive a local AVdd supply from that using a Microchip Ripple Blocker[™] device. As above, it is best to place this as close as design will allow to the main supply chip.

4.0 COMMUNICATION TRACES

4.1 SPI Traces

The length of the SPI traces should be kept to a minimum. Particular attention should be given to the SCK trace which can be noisy. Ideally, route the SPI bus traces together as a group.

4.2 I²C Traces

Always route SDA, SCL, and CHG lines well away from the Y lines to avoid any potential coupling and hence noise contamination.

There are no internal pull-up resistors in the maXTouch device so external pull-up resistors are required for SDA and <u>SCL</u>. These resistors must be connected to the VddIO supply, or to Vdd if a separate VddIO supply is not present. The <u>CHG</u> line is also open drain, and so this will also require a pull-up resistor to VddIO (or Vdd if there is no separate VddIO supply) somewhere in the circuit. It is worth checking with the design authority whether these resistors have been catered for (such as in the host-side circuitry), or whether they are needed on the current design.

4.3 Crystal Selection

If a crystal is required by the maXTouch device, this and its accompanying load capacitors must be kept as close as possible to the controller pins, making sure to keep all other signals as far away as possible. Oscillator circuits are high impedance, and are therefore sensitive to noisy tracks running adjacent to or underneath them. A ground plane under the crystal and its tracking to the controller is recommended (see Figure 8).

FIGURE 8: CRYSTAL LAYOUT



4.4 Other Traces

RESET – routing is non-critical, and is generally tied to a high logic level. If left open circuit, however, care should be taken that there are no adjacent noisy signals, which could cause false resetting. It has been found that in some cases, a 10n or similar value capacitor from the reset line directly to ground can assist in improving the ESD immunity of the board. In such cases, this cap (and its associated pull-up resistor) should be tracked very close to the reset pin on the device.

ADDSEL, MODE SELECT and similar signals – routing is non-critical. It is sampled only at start-up or reset to select the required I^2C client address.

GPIO – routing for GPIO lines should be kept as short as possible, and like all other signal tracking, should avoid vias, and any breaks in the signal return path (ground).

4.5 ESD Handling

The best way of handling ESD for a touch sensor is to prevent it getting in at all: the small geometries and materials of a touch sensor mean it can be vulnerable to physical damage from an ESD strike. The whole system (sensor, FPC and host board) should be designed with an eye towards ESD compliance. Following the guidance for PCB and FPC design elsewhere in this document should be of help here.

Typically, the design rules (track size and spacing, minimum cut widths, minimum geometry size, and so on) for a given project are defined by the manufacturer based on a balance of their process capabilities and cost structure for the project. The precise approach to handling ESD will therefore depend on the manufacturer's specifications. Nevertheless, the following provides some general guidance for handling ESD:

- The distance between the ESD Ground trace and the sensor traces should be maximized where possible. A distance of 0.3 mm is considered reasonable, but some manufacturers consider 0.5 mm to be the preferred minimum. The actual distance chosen depends greatly on the stack and the materials used: some OCAs, for example, are more conductive than others.
- The width of the ESD Ground trace should be maximized where possible, to reduce the resistance. Again, there may be manufacturer's guidance to comply with here.
- For ground and power tracks, ensure that multiple vias are placed between the tracking on different layers. Avoid using single via connection points between these tracks. This is particularly important where a dedicated ground plane is used, as the multiple connections will ensure a solid connection to Ground.
- ESD currents should be routed away from the maXTouch device. Where Ground is used instead of Driven Shield for isolation between X and Y lines, ensure that the ground traces or flood will not form part of the ESD strike ground return path.
- All metal near the sensor should be solidly grounded. Areas of floating metal near the sensor should be avoided, as these will have a direct impact on the ESD and touch performance. It is possible to have small areas of conductive metal (for example, printed silver graphics), but the spacing to the sensor is important and it is not an ideal scenario.
- The use of series resistors on the sense lines can be considered for ESD protection and these are preferred to the use of inductors. A value of 1K0 is recommended, with a maximum of 2K7. Resistors on the X lines improve radiated emissions (slower edge rate) but tend to increase the charge time (which means a longer ADC acquisition window and more opportunity for noise injection). Resistors on the Y lines help somewhat with emissions and also assist with ESD protection.
- The use of ESD protection devices (TVS diodes) can be considered as an alternative. As a rule, these should be
 applied to any part of the design which may be susceptible to high voltage and could be affected by a close ESD
 discharge, or which would have close or direct contact with an external entity, such as an equipment operator. The
 requirement for such protection devices will very much depend upon the overall system design and layout of an
 individual product, and whether or not the controller is close enough to potential discharge sources to present a
 problem.
- However, due to their nature, most ESD protection devices will introduce a fairly large capacitance burden to the circuit they are protecting. For this reason, these protection devices typically cannot be used on the X or Y lines of a touch controller, or any other high speed signal lines. In addition, the component cost and PCB real estate requirements would probably preclude this.
- Good candidates for the addition of an ESD protection device include power supplies, where these are brought
 onto the PCB via long cables, and any exposed parts of the circuit which are likely to be directly contacted by the
 equipment operator or user.
- For further advice, and design reviews, please contact your Microchip representative.

5.0 EXTERNAL HIGH VOLTAGE CIRCUIT LAYOUT

If an external high voltage supply is used special attention must be given to the component placement.

FIGURE 9: EXAMPLE OF A BOOST CONVERTER CIRCUIT



In the example shown in Figure 9, the components for the boost converter circuit must be placed very close to each other especially the inductor, diode (D1), capacitors (C1, C2, C3) and the switching FET. The inductor chosen should be a screened type, with a high self-resonant frequency. Refer to the boost converter chip manufacturer data sheet for more details. For typical component values, refer to the datasheet for your device.

As discussed in Section 3.14 "Ground", the ground for the boost converter is best split from the common ground of the touch controller and connected only through a star-point connection. This star connection should be as close to the power entry point on the PCB as possible.

6.0 BGA ESCAPE ROUTING

FIGURE 10: EXAMPLE 64-BALL BGA ESCAPE ROUTING PATTERN ON 2-LAYER PCB



FIGURE 11: EXAMPLE 64-BALL BGA ESCAPE ROUTING PATTERN ON 4-LAYER PCB WITH VIAS IN PAD



7.0 DESIGN FOR MANUFACTURING

7.1 Layout Traces

Typical track width is 0.15 mm with 0.15 mm clearance gap. However, width and copper clearance capabilities may vary between different manufacturers.

To escape the BGA package tracks will need to neck down to 0.1 or even 0.080mm to enable routings in between vias. Copper clearance will also need to reduce to 0.1 mm and sometimes lower depending on the via annular pad size. Typical smallest clearance between copper is 0.080mm with a good manufacturer.

7.2 Vias

Vias are used to escape tracks from the inner balls of the BGA package. In general, the size of a via is determine by its aspect ratio – the depth of the via against the drill hole size before plating.

Laser drilling must be used for BGA routing escape, as less than 0.15 mm drill size is required. Typical laser drill size is 0.1 mm (100 micron). The aspect ratio is an important factor. Laser drill is more commonly used in FPCB where the stackup or materials used are thinner than rigid PCB. When designing multilayer FPCB (3 layers or more), always get the advice from the manufacturer if whether 0.1 mm drill is still possible. Manufacturing limitations may vary from one manufacturer to another.

7.3 Solder Mask

Solder masks provide a permanent protective coating for the copper traces of a PCB and prevent solder from bridging between conductors, thereby preventing short circuits. Figure 12 shows a solder mask in the negative. For BGA package, ensure vias and tracks in between the balls are covered with a solder mask.

FIGURE 12: VIAS AND TRACK IN BETWEEN BGA BALLS MUST BE COVERED WITH SOLDER MASK



7.4 Layer Stack-up

Most of the maXTouch devices with a small node count can be designed on a minimum two-layer PCB. However, due to different design constraints which may be required in the design request, the number of layers may increase up to four layers.

Figure 13 and Figure 14 show two different proposals for layer stack-ups for a typical maXTouch design.

FIGURE 13: STACK-UP FOR 2 LAYER PCB



FIGURE 14: STACK-UP FOR 4 LAYER PCB



8.0 FLEXIBLE PRINTED CIRCUIT

All the rules of a PCB layout as stated above will apply to a flexible printed circuit (FPC). However, due to its flexibility, designing an FPC will require additional rules for a successful layout. There are basically two types of FPC, which are:

- **Passive** Single-sided or double-sided flex with no components. Passive FPC is typically used for making interconnections between PCBs by means of an FFC connector.
- Active FPC with electronic circuits printed on the flex. For an active FPC, a stiffener is attached to the component area to support the weight of the electronic components.

8.1 FPC Layout

The layout rule on an FPC will generally be similar to a standard PCB. However, care should be taken especially in the area where the FPC will be folded, also called the bending area.

A few design rules should be taken into consideration when routing in the bending area.

- **Tracks** All tracks going through the bending area of an FPC must be routed in straight lines. Avoid routing the tracks in 45 or 90 degree angles. If a straight track is not possible, the traces should be routed using a curved angle.
- Via No vias should be placed in the bending area.
- **Copper Pour** Having a copper pour filled in the bending area will directly affect the flexibility of an FPC. If it is really necessary to have copper pour within the bend region (for example, for technical reasons such as shielding the X and Y from coupling), try using a 40% hatched pour instead of solid pour. Note that a hatched copper pour will have the same electrical shielding properties as a solid layer, but will not load adjacent signals as much.
- Number of Layers Only use a maximum of two layers for trace routing and layout in the bending area. Avoid
 using more than 2 layers because this will affect the flexibility of the FPC. For example, if the FPC is using four
 layers, choose Mid Layer 1 and Mid Layer 2 for trace routing in the bend region. The Top and Bottom layers
 should be free from any tracks and copper.

FIGURE 15: EXAMPLE OF LAYOUT IN BENDING AREA ON A 4 LAYER FPC



FIGURE 16: EXAMPLE OF LAYOUT IN BENDING AREA ON A 2 LAYER FPC



8.2 FPC Orientation

The shape and direction of the connector stub influences the tracking pinout. Figure 17 shows three scenarios that illustrate different tracking layouts using the same connector pinouts.

FIGURE 17: SCENARIOS FOR TRACKING PINOUTS



8.3 FPC Folding Path

Depending on which side the connector is attached to both the FPC and the soldered side of the connector on the main board, the pinout may be mirrored or rotated as the result of one small change (see Figure 18). This can, of course, be "corrected" using vias if there is enough space.

FIGURE 18: FIGURE 20 FPC FOLDING PATH



8.4 FPC Layers

Using a one-layer FPC (see Figure 19) results in a limitation on the possible pinouts. In this case, shielding is also not possible

FIGURE 19: ONE-LAYER FPC



A two-layer FPC (see Figure 20) allows for much more flexibility in the pinout, tracking and shielding options, but remember to keep X-Y coupling to a minimum.

FIGURE 20: TWO-LAYER FPC



A FPC ZIF style connector makes the choice of pinouts more difficult as there are fewer convenient spaces for vias (see Figure 21).

FIGURE 21: TWO LAYER FPC – ZIF STYLE CONNECTOR



APPENDIX A: REVISION HISTORY

Revision CX (November 2016) – Atmel edition

Final Atmel revision

Revision A (August 2021) – Microchip edition

Reformatted and updated – Microchip edition

This revision incorporates the following updates:

- Updated to Microchip application note format:
 - Table of Contents added
 - Associated Documents removed
 - Revision History moved to this appendix
 - Back cover updated
- · Changes to content:
 - PTC key information removed
 - Information on generic/auxiliary keys added
 - Section 5.0 "External High Voltage Circuit Layout" updated
 - Other minor changes to advice
- New documentation number assigned

MXTAN0208

NOTES:

Note the following details of the code protection feature on Microchip devices:

- Microchip products meet the specifications contained in their particular Microchip Data Sheet.
- Microchip believes that its family of products is secure when used in the intended manner and under normal conditions.
- There are dishonest and possibly illegal methods being used in attempts to breach the code protection features of the Microchip devices. We believe that these methods require using the Microchip products in a manner outside the operating specifications contained in Microchip's Data Sheets. Attempts to breach these code protection features, most likely, cannot be accomplished without violating Microchip's intellectual property rights.
- Microchip is willing to work with any customer who is concerned about the integrity of its code.
- Neither Microchip nor any other semiconductor manufacturer can guarantee the security of its code. Code protection does not mean that
 we are guaranteeing the product is "unbreakable." Code protection is constantly evolving. We at Microchip are committed to continuously
 improving the code protection features of our products. Attempts to break Microchip's code protection feature may be a violation of the
 Digital Millennium Copyright Act. If such acts allow unauthorized access to your software or other copyrighted work, you may have a right
 to sue for relief under that Act.

Information contained in this publication is provided for the sole purpose of designing with and using Microchip products. Information regarding device applications and the like is provided only for your convenience and may be superseded by updates. It is your responsibility to ensure that your application meets with your specifications.

THIS INFORMATION IS PROVIDED BY MICROCHIP "AS IS". MICROCHIP MAKES NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND WHETHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WRITTEN OR ORAL, STATUTORY OR OTHERWISE, RELATED TO THE INFORMATION INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO ANY IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY, AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR WARRANTIES RELATED TO ITS CONDITION, QUALITY, OR PERFORMANCE.

IN NO EVENT WILL MICROCHIP BE LIABLE FOR ANY SPECIAL, PUNITIVE, INCIDENTAL INDIRECT, OR CONSEQUENTIAL LOSS, DAMAGE, COST OR EXPENSE OF ANY KIND WHATSOEVER RELATED TO THE INFORMATION OR ITS USE, HOWEVER CAUSED, EVEN IF MICROCHIP HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OR THE DAMAGES ARE FORESEEABLE. TO THE FULLEST EXTENT ALLOWED BY LAW, MICROCHIP'S TOTAL LIABILITY ON ALL CLAIMS IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THE INFORMATION OR ITS USE WILL NOT EXCEED THE AMOUNT OF FEES, IF ANY, THAT YOU HAVE PAID DIRECTLY TO MICROCHIP FOR THE INFORMATION. Use of Microchip devices in life support and/or safety applications is entirely at the buyer's risk, and the buyer agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Microchip from any and all damages, claims, suits, or expenses resulting from such use. No licenses are conveyed, implicitly or otherwise, under any Microchip intellectual property rights unless otherwise stated.

Trademarks

The Microchip name and logo, the Microchip logo, Adaptec, AnyRate, AVR, AVR logo, AVR Freaks, BesTime, BitCloud, chipKIT, chipKIT logo, CryptoMemory, CryptoRF, dsPIC, FlashFlex, flexPWR, HELDO, IGLOO, JukeBlox, KeeLoq, Kleer, LANCheck, LinkMD, maXStylus, maXTouch, MediaLB, megaAVR, Microsemi, Microsemi logo, MOST, MOST logo, MPLAB, OptoLyzer, PackeTime, PIC, picoPower, PICSTART, PIC32 logo, PolarFire, Prochip Designer, QTouch, SAM-BA, SenGenuity, SpyNIC, SST, SST Logo, SuperFlash, Symmetricom, SyncServer, Tachyon, TimeSource, tinyAVR, UNI/O, Vectron, and XMEGA are registered trademarks of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A. and other countries.

AgileSwitch, APT, ClockWorks, The Embedded Control Solutions Company, EtherSynch, FlashTec, Hyper Speed Control, HyperLight Load, IntelliMOS, Libero, motorBench, mTouch, Powermite 3, Precision Edge, ProASIC, ProASIC Plus, ProASIC Plus logo, Quiet-Wire, SmartFusion, SyncWorld, Temux, TimeCesium, TimeHub, TimePictra, TimeProvider, WinPath, and ZL are registered trademarks of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A.

Adjacent Key Suppression, AKS, Analog-for-the-Digital Age, Any Capacitor, Anyln, AnyOut, Augmented Switching, BlueSky, BodyCom, CodeGuard, CryptoAuthentication, CryptoAutomotive, CryptoCompanion, CryptoController, dsPICDEM, dsPICDEM.net, Dynamic Average Matching, DAM, ECAN, Espresso T1S, EtherGREEN, IdealBridge, In-Circuit Serial Programming, ICSP, INICnet, Intelligent Paralleling, Inter-Chip Connectivity, JitterBlocker, maxCrypto, maxView, memBrain, Mindi, MiWi, MPASM, MPF, MPLAB Certified Iogo, MPLIB, MPLINK, MultiTRAK, NetDetach, Omniscient Code Generation, PICDEM, PICDEM.net, PICkit, PICtail, PowerSmart, PureSilicon, QMatrix, REAL ICE, Ripple Blocker, RTAX, RTG4, SAM-ICE, Serial Quad I/O, simpleMAP, SimpliPHY, SmartBuffer, SMART-I.S., storClad, SQI, SuperSwitcher, SuperSwitcher II, Switchtec, SynchroPHY, Total Endurance, TSHARC, USBCheck, VariSense, VectorBlox, VeriPHY, ViewSpan, WiperLock, XpressConnect, and ZENA are trademarks of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A. and other countries.

SQTP is a service mark of Microchip Technology Incorporated in the U.S.A.

The Adaptec logo, Frequency on Demand, Silicon Storage Technology, and Symmcom are registered trademarks of Microchip Technology Inc. in other countries.

GestIC is a registered trademark of Microchip Technology Germany II GmbH & Co. KG, a subsidiary of Microchip Technology Inc., in other countries.

All other trademarks mentioned herein are property of their respective companies.

© 2021, Microchip Technology Incorporated, All Rights Reserved.

ISBN: 978-1-5224-8773-9

For information regarding Microchip's Quality Management Systems, please visit www.microchip.com/quality.



Worldwide Sales and Service

AMERICAS

Corporate Office 2355 West Chandler Blvd. Chandler, AZ 85224-6199 Tel: 480-792-7200 Fax: 480-792-7277 Technical Support: http://www.microchip.com/ support Web Address:

www.microchip.com

Atlanta Duluth, GA Tel: 678-957-9614 Fax: 678-957-1455

Austin, TX Tel: 512-257-3370

Boston Westborough, MA Tel: 774-760-0087 Fax: 774-760-0088

Chicago Itasca, IL Tel: 630-285-0071 Fax: 630-285-0075

Dallas Addison, TX Tel: 972-818-7423 Fax: 972-818-2924

Detroit Novi MI Tel: 248-848-4000

Houston, TX Tel: 281-894-5983

Indianapolis Noblesville, IN Tel: 317-773-8323 Fax: 317-773-5453 Tel: 317-536-2380

Los Angeles Mission Viejo, CA Tel: 949-462-9523 Fax: 949-462-9608 Tel: 951-273-7800

Raleigh, NC Tel: 919-844-7510

New York, NY Tel: 631-435-6000

San Jose, CA Tel: 408-735-9110 Tel: 408-436-4270

Canada - Toronto Tel: 905-695-1980 Fax: 905-695-2078

ASIA/PACIFIC

Australia - Sydney Tel: 61-2-9868-6733 China - Beijing

Tel: 86-10-8569-7000 China - Chengdu Tel: 86-28-8665-5511

China - Chongqing Tel: 86-23-8980-9588

China - Dongguan Tel: 86-769-8702-9880

China - Guangzhou Tel: 86-20-8755-8029

China - Hangzhou Tel: 86-571-8792-8115

China - Hong Kong SAR Tel: 852-2943-5100

China - Nanjing Tel: 86-25-8473-2460

China - Qingdao Tel: 86-532-8502-7355

China - Shanghai Tel: 86-21-3326-8000

China - Shenyang Tel: 86-24-2334-2829

China - Shenzhen Tel: 86-755-8864-2200

China - Suzhou Tel: 86-186-6233-1526

China - Wuhan Tel: 86-27-5980-5300

China - Xian Tel: 86-29-8833-7252

China - Xiamen Tel: 86-592-2388138

China - Zhuhai Tel: 86-756-3210040

ASIA/PACIFIC

India - Bangalore Tel: 91-80-3090-4444

India - New Delhi Tel: 91-11-4160-8631

India - Pune Tel: 91-20-4121-0141

Japan - Osaka Tel: 81-6-6152-7160 Japan - Tokyo

Tel: 81-3-6880- 3770 Korea - Daegu

Tel: 82-53-744-4301

Korea - Seoul Tel: 82-2-554-7200

Malaysia - Kuala Lumpur Tel: 60-3-7651-7906

Malaysia - Penang Tel: 60-4-227-8870

Philippines - Manila Tel: 63-2-634-9065

Singapore Tel: 65-6334-8870

Taiwan - Hsin Chu Tel: 886-3-577-8366

Taiwan - Kaohsiung Tel: 886-7-213-7830

Taiwan - Taipei Tel: 886-2-2508-8600

Thailand - Bangkok Tel: 66-2-694-1351

Vietnam - Ho Chi Minh Tel: 84-28-5448-2100

Fax: 31-416-690340 Norway - Trondheim Tel: 47-7288-4388

Tel: 31-416-690399

EUROPE

Austria - Wels

Tel: 43-7242-2244-39

Tel: 45-4485-5910

Fax: 45-4485-2829

Tel: 358-9-4520-820

Tel: 33-1-69-53-63-20

Fax: 33-1-69-30-90-79

Germany - Garching

Tel: 49-2129-3766400

Germany - Heilbronn

Germany - Karlsruhe

Tel: 49-7131-72400

Tel: 49-721-625370

Germany - Munich

Tel: 49-89-627-144-0

Fax: 49-89-627-144-44

Germany - Rosenheim

Tel: 49-8031-354-560

Israel - Ra'anana

Italy - Milan

Italy - Padova

Tel: 972-9-744-7705

Tel: 39-0331-742611

Fax: 39-0331-466781

Tel: 39-049-7625286

Netherlands - Drunen

Tel: 49-8931-9700

Germany - Haan

Finland - Espoo

France - Paris

Fax: 43-7242-2244-393

Denmark - Copenhagen

Poland - Warsaw Tel: 48-22-3325737

Romania - Bucharest Tel: 40-21-407-87-50

Spain - Madrid Tel: 34-91-708-08-90 Fax: 34-91-708-08-91

Sweden - Gothenberg Tel: 46-31-704-60-40

Sweden - Stockholm Tel: 46-8-5090-4654

UK - Wokingham Tel: 44-118-921-5800 Fax: 44-118-921-5820